# THOMAS JEFFERSON UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS, INC. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN

SUMMARY PLAN DESCRIPTION May 2015

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	HOW THE PLAN WORKS	1
III.	ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION	2
IV.	CONTRIBUTIONS	4
V.	VESTING	7
VI.	INVESTMENT OF YOUR ACCOUNT	7
VII.	PAYMENT OF YOUR ACCOUNT	9
VIII.	NON-ASSIGNMENT OF BENEFITS	11
IX.	LOSS, REDUCTION OR SUSPENSION OF BENEFITS	11
X.	PLAN EXPENSES	12
XI.	AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION OF THE PLAN	12
XII.	TERMINATION INSURANCE	12
XIII.	TAX INFORMATION	12
XIV.	BENEFIT CLAIMS PROCEDURES	13
XV.	OTHER FACTS YOU SHOULD KNOW	15
XVI.	YOUR RIGHTS UNDER ERISA	17

# THOMAS JEFFERSON UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS, INC.

## **DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN**

#### SUMMARY PLAN DESCRIPTION

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Thomas Jefferson University Hospitals, Inc. Defined Contribution Pension Plan (the "Plan") is a defined contribution plan that operates under Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). Thomas Jefferson University Hospitals, Inc. (the "Hospital") established the Plan effective July 1, 2004. In connection with the unification of Thomas Jefferson University (the "University") and the Hospital, the University adopted and assumed sponsorship of the Plan, effective June 30, 2014.

The change in Plan Sponsor does not affect the benefits you are entitled to under the Plan. However, throughout this document you will see references to the "University." In those instances, your status as an employee within the University's controlled group is determinative of your status under the Plan. For example, as of June 30, 2014, if you are transferred from employment with the Hospital to employment with the University, you will not be considered to have experienced a Separation from Service under the Plan.

The purpose of the Plan is to provide retirement benefits for participating employees. This summary plan description describes the Plan provisions in effect as of May 2015. This booklet is not the Plan Document, but is designed to summarize the retirement benefits provided by the Plan, without going into all of the refinements and details of the Plan Document. The legal rights of any person under the Plan are determined solely by the provisions of the Plan document. IN THE EVENT OF ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THIS SUMMARY PLAN DESCRIPTION AND THE OFFICIAL PLAN DOCUMENT, THE PLAN DOCUMENT ALWAYS GOVERNS. If you wish to see a copy of the official Plan Document, contact the Human Resources Service Center, Department of Human Resources, Thomas Jefferson University and Hospitals at (215) 503-4772.

## II. HOW THE PLAN WORKS

The Plan is a tax-deferred retirement plan described in section 403(b) of the Code. Under the Plan, if you are an eligible employee, you may invest in annuity contracts, mutual fund accounts and any other investment options made available by the Plan Administrator under the Plan, with contributions that you make to the Plan ("Employee Contributions") and that the Hospital makes on your behalf (both "Employer Matching Contributions" and "Employer Fixed Contributions"). Because the Plan is tax-deferred, neither you nor the Plan will pay any income tax on your Employee Contributions or the earnings generated by the investment of assets held on your behalf under the Plan at this time. Instead, you will be taxed when you receive benefits under the Plan, at which time you may be eligible for further tax deferral through a rollover or direct transfer to a traditional individual retirement arrangement ("IRA") or to another employer's tax-qualified retirement plan (i.e., a Section 401(a) retirement plan, a Section 403(a)

annuity plan, a Section 457(b) retirement plan maintained by certain governmental employers, or a Section 403(b) retirement plan). If you elect to directly roll over your accumulations to a Roth IRA, the accumulations will be taxed at the time of distribution.

# III. ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION

# Eligibility to Participate in the Plan

Generally, you are eligible to participate in the Plan if you are a common law employee of the Hospital with at least 1,000 hours of service in a twelve consecutive-month period. However, you are not eligible for the Plan if you are:

- an active participant in the Hospital Employees' Pension Plan;
- a regularly scheduled full-time senior administrator (as designated by the Hospital);
- an employee of the Methodist Hospital Nursing Center;
- ♦ an administrative, medical, pharmacy or post-doctoral fellow, resident or intern employed from year-to-year;
- ♦ a member of a union, unless the collective bargaining agreement provides for participation by its union members in the Plan; or
- a "leased employee" or independent contractor.

## When Participation Begins and Ends

If you are an eligible employee, you generally become a participant as of the first day of the month coincident with or next following the date you complete one "Eligibility Year" (defined below) and attain age 21. You may elect to contribute to the Plan by completing the enrollment process as required by Human Resources and TIAA-CREF, the Plan's record keeper, including a salary reduction agreement to make Employee Contributions to TIAA-CREF. Eligible employees are automatically enrolled in the Plan as soon as administratively practicable following the date they become participants, with a minimum of thirty-days' notice of their automatic enrollment. This means that unless you make an affirmative election <u>not</u> to contribute, or to contribute at a lower rate, you will be considered as having elected to contribute, each pay period, six percent (6%) of your Compensation (as defined herein).

Whether you made an affirmative salary reduction agreement or you were enrolled automatically at a six percent (6%) contribution rate, you may change your contribution rate or stop your contributions at any time. Changes to your salary reduction agreement may be made through TIAA-CREF and are normally effective with the first pay period following your authorized change. For the toll-free telephone number and web address of TIAA-CREF, see part XV ("Other Facts You Should Know") of this Summary Plan Description.

All determinations about eligibility and participation will be made by the University, the Hospital and TIAA-CREF based on their records and the official Plan Document on file.

Active participation in the Plan ends when you either transfer to an ineligible class of employees or terminate your employment with the Hospital. However, you remain an inactive participant as long as you have an account under the Plan, and you may again become an active participant if you return to work for the Hospital in an eligible class of employees.

# Terms You Should Know

*Compensation*. "Compensation" means your base wages or regular salary from the Hospital before reduction for any Employee Contributions and pre-tax contributions for health care coverage or to any other University-sponsored tax-qualified retirement plan. Compensation does not include:

- ♦ Bonuses;
- ♦ Overtime;
- Compensation paid or accrued with respect to service performed before the date you became a participant in the Plan;
- University and/or Hospital contributions to this Plan (other than salary deferral contributions) or any other plan of deferred compensation of the Hospital or University;
- University and/or Hospital contributions to Social Security;
- ♦ Severance pay of any kind; or
- ♦ Any other form of supplemental pay.

Federal law limits the amount of your Compensation that can be counted each year in determining the amount of contributions under the Plan on your behalf. For 2015, this limit is \$265,000 and, for subsequent years, it may be adjusted by the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") periodically for cost-of-living increases.

**Break in Service**. A "Break in Service" is any Plan Year in which you are credited with fewer than 501 Hours of Service.

Eligibility Year. The "Eligibility Year" is the one-year period of employment that you must complete before you will be eligible for the Plan. If you complete at least 1,000 Hours of Service during the 12-month period beginning on your date of hire by the Hospital (or alternatively, during any Plan Year that begins after your date of hire), you will be credited with one Eligibility Year on the last day of that 12-month period. Any service that you performed for the University or Jefferson University Physicians will be counted toward your Eligibility.

*Hour of Service*. An "Hour of Service" is generally any hour for which you are paid by the Hospital for the performance of duties, or for periods of vacation, holiday, illness, incapacity or disability, layoff, jury or military duty, or leave of absence. However, for any single continuous period in which you are not performing employment duties, a maximum of 501 Hours of Service will be credited. As of June 30, 2014, an "Hour of Service" also includes any hour for which you are paid by the University for the performance of duties.

*Plan Year*. The "Plan Year" means the period of twelve consecutive months commencing on January 1 and ending on the following December 31.

**Qualified Military Service**. "Qualified Military Service" is any period of time for which you are absent for military service under leave granted by the University or Hospital or required by federal law, provided that you return to employment while your right to reemployment is protected by federal law.

**Vesting Year.** A "Vesting Year" is any Plan Year in which you complete 1,000 or more Hours of Service for the Hospital. Prior to June 30, 2014, your Vesting Years will include any service you performed as an employee of the University or Jefferson University Physicians, provided that you transferred to the Hospital following a termination of employment with either of those two employers. All service that you perform for the University after June 29, 2014 will be counted towards Vesting Years.

If you transferred employment from the Hospital directly to Aramark on July 1, 2012, your Vesting Years will include any Hours of Service you perform with Aramark, provided you remain continuously employed by Aramark through June 30, 2012. You will be credited with 190 Hours of Service for each month in which you are credited with one Hour of Service with Aramark.

Once you are vested, you cannot lose credit for the Vesting Years you have earned. If you terminated employment with the Hospital and then are rehired <u>before</u> you incur five consecutive Breaks in Service, the Vesting Years you had earned before your first termination of employment will continue to be recognized by the Plan.

# IV. CONTRIBUTIONS

# **Employee Contributions**

To begin making Employee Contributions, you generally must enter into a written salary reduction agreement with the Hospital through TIAA-CREF. However, if you fail to do so, and if you do not affirmatively elect <u>not</u> to contribute to the Plan, you will be considered as having made a salary reduction agreement to contribute 6% of your Compensation to the Plan each pay period.

A salary reduction agreement, once submitted to TIAA-CREF, authorizes the Hospital to withhold a certain percentage of your Compensation on a pre-tax (salary deferral) basis as Employee Contributions for contribution to the Plan. Your Employee Contributions are subject to the limits on contributions as explained below. Because your Employee Contributions are withheld from your Compensation on a pre-tax basis, they are not treated as taxable income for

federal income tax purposes. However, your Employee Contributions are subject to Social Security (FICA) tax.

Your Employee Contributions may be any percentage of your Compensation up to 6%.

# Catch-up Contributions

If you will be at least 50 years old by the end of a Plan Year, you are eligible to make additional pre-tax contributions (known as "Catch-up Contributions") to the Plan over and above the IRS limit or the 6% Plan limit for the year. You must, however, make the maximum pre-tax contributions to the Plan for the year to be eligible to make Catch-up Contributions. The IRS limit for the year and the maximum pre-tax contributions are determined in accordance with the "Annual Limit on Employee Contributions" section below. You are not required to make Catch-up Contributions.

If you are eligible to make Catch-up Contributions for 2015, you will be able to defer an additional amount of your Compensation, up to \$6,000, on a pre-tax basis to the Plan. This limit may be adjusted by the IRS from time to time for cost-of-living increases.

Catch-up Contributions are <u>not</u> eligible for Employer Matching Contributions.

# **Annual Limit on Employee Contributions**

Under federal tax law, your total pre-tax Employee Contributions for any Plan Year may not exceed the "elective deferral" limit. The current limit on pre-tax Employee Contributions (other than Catch-up Contributions) for 2015 is \$18,000. This limit may be adjusted by the IRS from time to time for cost-of-living increases.

If you are eligible to make Catch-up Contributions during 2015, you may be able to defer up to \$24,000 to the Plan on a pre-tax basis (\$18,000 in Employee Contributions and an additional amount up to \$6,000 in Catch-up Contributions).

If your Employee Contributions under the Plan, plus your pre-tax contributions under any other 403(b) plan, 401(k) plan or Simplified Employee Pension ("SEP") in which you participate exceed the pre-tax contribution dollar limit for any calendar year, you will have made "excess deferrals." You are responsible to insure that excess deferrals are either distributed to you with earnings (and included in your gross income) or recharacterized as Catch-up Contributions (provided you are eligible to make Catch-up Contributions) no later than April 15 of the year following the year in which excess deferrals were made.

# **Employer Matching Contributions**

The Hospital will make matching contributions to the Plan on your behalf, but only if you make Employee Contributions. The Hospital will match 25% of your Employee Contributions for any payroll period in which an Employee Contribution is made. Thus, if you make the maximum permitted Employee Contribution of 6% of Compensation for a payroll period, the Employer Matching Contribution will be 1.5% of your Compensation for the same period.

# **Employer Fixed Contributions**

In addition to its matching contributions, the Hospital will make an Employer Fixed Contribution on your behalf for any Plan Year, provided that (1) you are an active participant in the Plan on December 31<sup>st</sup> of the year, and (2) you completed 1,000 or more Hours of Service during the Plan Year.

The amount of the Employer Fixed Contribution is equal to 4.5% of your Compensation for the Plan Year. Unlike the Employer Matching Contribution, the Hospital makes the Employer Fixed Contribution to your Plan account regardless of whether you are contributing to the Plan. The Hospital makes its Employer Fixed Contribution for any Plan Year, and attributable to limits for that plan year, after the end of the year.

# Annual Limit on All Contributions

There is also a limit on the total amount that can be added to your Plan account (under this and any other University-sponsored 403(b) plan in which you participate) in any one Plan Year. For 2015, the overall contribution limit is the lesser of: (1) \$53,000 (as adjusted from time to time by the IRS for future years) or (2) 100% of your taxable compensation, and is applicable to the following amounts:

♦ Employer Matching Contributions, Employer Fixed Contributions, and any Employee Contributions (except Catch-up Contributions) allocated for any Plan Year under this Plan or any other University-sponsored 403(b) plan in which you participate.

If this limit is exceeded, "excess contributions" result. The University and Hospital will take whatever action is necessary to correct any excess contributions.

# Contributions Following Periods of Qualified Military Service

If you return to employment with the Hospital or University following a period of Qualified Military Service, you will be permitted to make additional Employee Contributions and, if you are eligible, Catch-up Contributions, up to the amount you would have been permitted to contribute if you had continued to be employed and received Compensation during your period of Qualified Military Service. If you decide to "make up" Employee Contributions following your return to employment, the Hospital will make Employer Matching Contributions on such Employee Contributions as if they had been made during your period of Qualified Military Service.

If you choose to make these additional Employee Contributions and, if applicable, Catchup Contributions, you must do so within five years of your return to employment or, if less, within a period that is three times the length of your Qualified Military Service.

Regardless of whether you decide to make up Employee Contributions, the Hospital will, following your period of Qualified Military Service, make Employer Fixed Contributions to your Plan account in the amount that would have been contributed if you had not been absent for Qualified Military Service.

## **Rollover Contributions**

If you receive a distribution from a Code Section 401(a), 403(a), 403(b) or a government-sponsored 457(b) plan of your former employer(s), or from your individual retirement accounts and annuities, you may roll over the distribution to this Plan if certain requirements are met. The Plan does <u>not</u> accept rollovers of after-tax contributions or Roth contributions, nor does it accept rollovers from Roth IRAs. You should note that there are time limits on rollover contributions that are not made directly to the Plan from another plan. For information about rolling over a particular distribution to this Plan, contact TIAA-CREF at (800) 842-2888.

#### V. VESTING

You always have a 100% nonforfeitable or "vested" right to your Employee Contributions, Employer Fixed Contributions, Catch-up Contributions, and rollover contributions (and any associated investment earnings) under the Plan.

You will become vested in your Employer Matching Contributions when you have completed three Vesting Years (or if sooner, when you attain the later of age 65 or the fifth anniversary of your participation in the Plan, while an employee of the Hospital, or after June 30, 2014, the University).

If you terminate employment with the Hospital (or, as of June 30, 2014, the University) before becoming vested in your Employer Matching Contributions, you will forfeit those amounts on the earlier of (A) the date you receive payment of the vested portion of your account, or (B) the date you incur five consecutive Breaks in Service. If, after receiving payment of the vested portion of your account, you return to the Hospital (and/or, as of June 30, 2014, if you return to the University) in employment covered by the Plan before you have five Breaks in Service, you will have the right to repay to the Plan the full amount of the distribution that you previously received. If you do so, the full amount of Employer Matching Contributions that you previously forfeited will be restored to your account.

## VI. INVESTMENT OF YOUR ACCOUNT

The Plan features a wide range of investment options with different objectives, risk and potential for gain. These options allow you to create an investment program that is right for you.

Before deciding to invest your contributions (which may include Employee Contributions, Employer Matching Contributions, Employer Fixed Contributions, and rollover contributions) in one or more of the available investment options, you should read the prospectus for that option. Except in the case of a guaranteed annuity investment option, there is no guarantee that the stated investment goals of any of the investment options will be realized. You can obtain detailed information (including a prospectus) about each of the investment funds by calling TIAA-CREF at (800) 842-2888 or visiting the Plan's website at www.tiaa-cref.org/jefferson. The University has the right to add, suspend or remove investment options under the Plan at any time. You will be notified in advance of any such change.

When you enroll in the Plan, you choose how your contributions will be invested. You may direct that your contributions be invested among any or all of the investment options offered

under the Plan. You may change your investment election with respect to future contributions and transfer existing funds from one investment option by filing a new or transfer election with TIAA-CREF in such manner and at such time in advance as prescribed by TIAA-CREF. Any transfer will be subject to such further limitations and restrictions imposed by the Plan Administrator and TIAA-CREF.

Annuity products differ from mutual funds with regard to distribution options. Your contributions to an annuity product are used to purchase a contractual or guaranteed amount of future retirement benefits for you in substantially equal payments over a specified period of time (e.g., over a 10-year period) or over your lifetime, whereas your contributions to a mutual fund option are generally distributed as a lump sum cash withdrawal. See Section VII of this booklet for more information.

If you do not direct the investment of your contributions, they will be invested in an age-appropriate lifecycle fund, which is the default investment fund selected by the Plan Administrator. For information on the Plan's default investment fund, call TIAA-CREF at (800) 842-2888 or visit the Plan's website at www.tiaa-cref.org/jefferson.

The Plan is intended to comply with Section 404(c) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA") and accompanying regulations. This means that the Plan permits participants to direct the investment of their Plan accounts. As long as the Plan complies with the requirements of Section 404(c), you will have responsibility for deciding how your Plan account is invested and the parties that otherwise would be responsible for making investment decisions (the "fiduciaries" of the Plan) will not be liable for any losses that result directly from your investment instructions.

To comply with Section 404(c), the Plan must permit participants to choose from a broad range of investment options and must provide participants with certain information about the investment options and the operation of the Plan. In addition to the information included in this booklet and in your enrollment package for the Plan, you may request the following information:

- a description of the annual operating expenses of each investment fund which reduce the rate of return for participants and beneficiaries, and the aggregate amount of such expenses expressed as a percentage of average net assets of the investment option;
- copies of any prospectuses, financial statements and reports, and of any other materials relating to the investment funds to the extent that such information is provided to the Plan;
- ♦ a list of the assets comprising the portfolio of each investment fund which constitute Plan assets within the meaning of ERISA, and the value of each such asset;
- information concerning the value of shares or units in each investment fund, as well as the past and current investment performance of such investment fund, determined, net of expenses, on a reasonable and consistent basis; and

• information concerning the value of shares or units in investment funds held in your Plan account.

To request any of this information, contact TIAA-CREF at (800) 842-2888 or visit the Plan's website at www.tiaa-cref.org/jefferson. The Plan Administrator is the named fiduciary responsible for providing this information.

## VII. PAYMENT OF YOUR ACCOUNT

# Retirement or Other Termination of Employment

You may withdraw the full value of your vested account balance when you retire or otherwise terminate your employment with the University. The timing and form of distribution of your account under the Plan will be governed by the terms of the investment options in which your account is invested.

# Form of Benefit

You may choose to receive your Plan account in any of the forms of benefit that are made available to you with respect to the investment options you have elected. These may include but are not limited to:

- a single sum payment (the default form of payment under the Plan); or
- ♦ application of your Plan account to the purchase of a single life annuity (with equal monthly payments to you for your lifetime) or a joint and survivor annuity (with equal monthly payments to you for your lifetime, followed by equal monthly payments to your surviving spouse or eligible domestic partner in an amount equal to 50% or 75% (as you choose) of the monthly amount payable to you during your lifetime.

If you terminate employment with the University and your account balance is \$1,000 or less, it will be automatically paid as a lump sum.

Contact TIAA-CREF for the specific forms of benefits available with respect to your Plan account. If you do not make an affirmative election to receive your benefit in a specific form, you will be deemed to have elected to receive your benefit in a lump sum.

There may be special distribution rules for the portion of your Plan account that is invested in TIAA-CREF's annuity contracts. If you elect an annuity form of benefit and you are married or have an eligible domestic partner, you <u>must</u> choose a joint and 50%, 75% or 100% survivor annuity with your spouse or eligible domestic partner as your beneficiary unless he or she consents to a different form of benefit. Your election and your spouse's or eligible domestic partner's consent must take place within 90 days prior to the benefit commencement date for your annuity, must acknowledge the effect of your election, and must be witnessed by a notary public.

# Required Distribution Date of Benefits

If you terminate employment with the University before you reach age  $70\frac{1}{2}$ , the Plan must begin to pay your account to you no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which you reach age  $70\frac{1}{2}$ .

If you continue to work for the University after you reach age 70½, the Plan must begin to pay your account to you no later than April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which you terminate employment.

Contact TIAA-CREF for further information about required minimum distribution payout options. The Plan must issue payments to you each year in the minimum amount needed to satisfy the distribution requirements under federal law.

# Payment of Your Account Upon Your Death

If you die before you begin receiving benefit payments, the full value of the vested portion of your Plan account will be payable to your beneficiary or beneficiaries.

When you enroll in the Plan, you will be asked to name your beneficiary by submitting a beneficiary designation form(s) online with TIAA-CREF. You may name anyone you want. However, if you are married or have an eligible domestic partner and wish to name someone else as your beneficiary for more than 50% of your vested account balance, your spouse or eligible domestic partner must approve this decision by providing a notarized statement of consent.

You may change your beneficiary at any time by completing a new beneficiary designation form (with your spouse's or eligible domestic partner's consent, if applicable) and submitting it online with TIAA-CREF. If you do not name a beneficiary, or if your designated beneficiary is not alive when you die, your Plan account balance will be paid to your spouse or eligible domestic partner.

If you should die after your Plan account begins to be paid to you, any remaining amounts in the vested portion of your account will be paid to the beneficiary or beneficiaries you have selected. If you elected to apply your account to the purchase of an annuity, payments, if any, will continue in accordance with the form of annuity you have selected.

If, at the time of your death, you have not completed a beneficiary designation form or your designated beneficiary is not alive, and you are not married and have no eligible domestic partner, your Plan account balance will be paid to your estate.

## Direct Rollovers

If you are entitled to receive a distribution from your account that is an eligible rollover distribution under the Code (generally, a lump sum distribution), you may transfer all or a portion of it either directly, or within 60 days after your receipt, to the trustee of an eligible retirement plan. For this purpose, an "eligible retirement plan" includes an individual retirement account or annuity under Code Sections 408(a) and (b), a Roth individual retirement plan under Code Section 408A(b), a qualified annuity plan under Code Section 403(a), a qualified annuity

contract purchased by a tax exempt organization under Code Section 403(b), a qualified retirement plan under Code Section 401(a), or a Code Section 457(b) plan maintained by a state or local governmental entity, if those plans accept rollovers. Special tax withholding rules apply to any portion of such a distribution that is not rolled over directly to an eligible retirement plan. See the section entitled "Tax Withholding," below.

If your surviving spouse is entitled to an eligible rollover distribution from the Plan, he or she has the same rollover rights that you do under the Plan. If your non-spouse beneficiary is entitled to an eligible rollover distribution from the Plan, he or she may only directly roll over such amounts to a traditional or Roth IRA.

#### VIII. NON-ASSIGNMENT OF BENEFITS

Federal law provides that you may not borrow against the value of your account as collateral for a loan or assign your rights under the Plan as collateral for a loan or for any other purpose. However, all or a portion of your account may be assigned under a qualified domestic relations order (*i.e.*, a court order entered in connection with a divorce or support proceeding) to a spouse, former spouse, child or other dependent to satisfy a legal obligation you have to that person. You may obtain a copy, free of charge, of the Plan's procedures relating to qualified domestic relations orders ("QDROs") from TIAA-CREF. In addition, your benefit may be used to satisfy a tax lien or offset amounts that certain judgments or settlement agreements require you to pay to the Plan.

# IX. LOSS, REDUCTION OR SUSPENSION OF BENEFITS

Under certain circumstances, your benefits may be lost, reduced or suspended. These circumstances include the following:

- ♦ All or a portion of your benefits are directed to be paid to your spouse, former spouse or child pursuant to a QDRO or are subject to a federal tax levy.
- ♦ You terminate employment with the University before becoming vested in your Employer Matching Contributions, in which case those amounts will be forfeited.
- ♦ You do not provide the University and TIAA-CREF with your most recent address and the University and TIAA-CREF cannot locate you.
- ♦ You fail to make proper application for benefits or fail to provide necessary information.
- ♦ The value of your account decreases due to investment losses.
- ♦ The value of your account is reduced as a result of reasonable Plan expenses charged to the Plan.

## X. PLAN EXPENSES

All reasonable expenses necessary to operate and administer the Plan will be paid by the Plan unless paid by the Hospital or University. The Plan Administrator may determine that administrative expenses paid by the Plan will be deducted from participants' accounts or allocated among participants' accounts on either a proportionate or flat fee basis. In addition, the Plan Administrator may charge your account for expenses incurred that are specific to your account, such as for review of a court order that would assign all or part of your benefit to a former spouse or a child.

#### XI. AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION OF THE PLAN

While it is expected that the Plan will continue indefinitely, the University reserves the right to amend or terminate the Plan in whole or in part, or discontinue contributions to the Plan, at any time. The University may delegate any of its power and duties with respect to the Plan to one or more officers or other employees of the Hospital or University. If the Plan is terminated, distribution will be made in accordance with the benefit provisions of the Plan and the Plan's investment options. No amendment to the Plan will reduce the amount of benefits you have accrued to date or divest you of any entitlement to a benefit.

## XII. TERMINATION INSURANCE

The Plan is a defined contribution plan, and, as such, is not eligible to purchase plan termination insurance. Therefore, benefits under the Plan are not insured by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation. The retirement benefit you receive will depend on how long you work for the Hospital and University, the amount you contribute to the Plan and the amount contributed on your behalf by the Hospital (if any), and the investment performance of your Plan account.

## XIII. TAX INFORMATION

# **Taxation**

You are not required to pay federal income tax on your account until amounts are actually distributed to you.

Generally, federal income tax must be paid on the amount of any payment you receive from the Plan. Also, if the payment is made before you reach age 59½, an additional 10% tax is imposed unless you meet one of the limited exceptions to this rule (*e.g.*, an exception exists for payments made after age 55 in connection with your termination of employment).

Because tax consequences of distributions vary depending on factors such as age, marital status, and other income, you are urged to consult with a professional tax advisor to determine how to treat any Plan distribution for tax purposes.

# Tax Withholding

If you receive an eligible rollover distribution from the Plan instead of having it transferred directly to an eligible retirement plan (as described in the section entitled "Direct Rollovers," above), federal law requires the automatic withholding of 20% of the distribution as federal income taxes. Even if you intend to roll the distribution over into an eligible retirement plan within 60 days, you are still required to have tax withheld on such a distribution.

If you roll over your eligible rollover distribution to a Roth IRA, your distribution is subject to federal income tax in the year in which it is made. You are solely responsible for the income tax withholding and reporting requirements on rollovers to Roth IRAs, although you may enter into a voluntary tax withholding agreement with the Plan (through TIAA-CREF) prior to a distribution.

If you will receive a distribution that is not an eligible rollover distribution, you may elect whether to have federal income tax withheld. You will receive a tax withholding election form prior to the distribution date. If you elect to have tax withheld from a distribution upon termination of employment, by law the withheld amount will be calculated according to schedules published by the IRS. In certain cases, the amount withheld may not cover the actual tax due.

## Tax Information on Distributions

You will receive IRS Form 1099-R providing you with tax filing information for all amounts paid to you from the Plan. The form will be sent to you by the January 31 following the year in which a payment was made. As required by law, a copy of the form will be forwarded to the IRS.

Because tax laws are complex and subject to change, this information is intended only as a general guideline based on our understanding of the federal income tax law in effect as of January 2015. State and local tax laws may also apply. For your own protection, you should consult a professional tax advisor before you receive any Plan money that is subject to taxation. All Plan benefits will be paid to you (or your beneficiary) minus any income tax withholding that may be required by federal, state or local law.

#### XIV. BENEFIT CLAIMS PROCEDURES

## Application for Benefits

Payment of your account to you, your spouse, or other beneficiary generally will not begin until a written application is received by the Plan Administrator and TIAA-CREF using the prescribed forms. Copies of the required forms may be obtained from TIAA-CREF. Benefits under the Plan will be paid only if the Plan Administrator determines, in its sole discretion, that you are entitled to them. To apply for benefits, contact TIAA-CREF at (800) 842-2888, or visit the Plan's website at www.tiaa-cref.org/jefferson.

## Claims Procedure

The Plan Administrator will advise you of your benefits under the Plan. If you believe that the Plan Administrator has failed to advise you or to pay any benefit to which you are entitled, you may file a written claim with the Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator will respond to your claim within a reasonable amount of time. If you are denied a claim for benefits, in whole or in part, the Plan Administrator will provide you written or electronic notice of the denial within 90 days of the date your claim is received by the Plan Administrator unless special circumstances require an extension of time for processing. In that case, a decision will be rendered as soon as possible, but not later than 180 days after receipt of your claim, and you will be notified of the reason for the delay within the original 90-day period. If your claim for benefits is denied, the Plan Administrator will provide you with written or electronic notice setting forth in simple terms:

- 1. The specific reason or reasons for the denial;
- 2. Reference to the specific Plan provisions on which the denial is based;
- 3. A description of any additional material or information needed so that a benefit may be paid and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary; and
- 4. An explanation of the claims review procedure under the Plan and the time limits applicable to the claims review procedure, including a statement of your right to bring civil action under section 502(a) of Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA") following denial of your claim under the claims review procedure.

You will also be provided, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records, and other information relevant to your claim.

If you receive a notice denying a claim, you or your duly authorized representative may request (in writing) a full review of the claim by the Plan Administrator within 60 days of your receipt of such notice. The Plan Administrator may extend the 60-day period where the nature of the benefit involved or other attendant circumstances make such extension appropriate. In connection with such review, you or your duly authorized representative may review pertinent documents and may submit issues and comments in writing. The Plan Administrator will make a decision within 60 days after receipt of the request for review, unless special circumstances (such as the need to hold a hearing, if appropriate) require an extension of time for processing. In that case, a decision will be rendered as soon as possible, but not later than 120 days after receipt of the request for review. The decision on review will include a written or electronic statement that will include:

- 1. The specific reason or reasons for the denial;
- 2. Specific reference to the Plan provisions on which the denial is based;

- 3. A description of your right to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records, and other information relevant to your claim for benefits; and
- 4. A statement of your right to bring a civil action under section 502(a) of ERISA.

The Plan Administrator's decision on review will be final and binding on all parties. If a claim for benefits relates to a participant's rights under an investment option, such as a TIAA-CREF annuity contract or mutual fund, the Plan Administrator will forward the claim to TIAA-CREF for review and processing in accordance with the procedures set forth above.

# Statute of Limitations for Claims

You may not file any claim against the Plan or its fiduciaries in any court until you have exhausted the claims and appeal procedures provided under the terms of the Plan. After you have exhausted the claims and appeal procedures of the Plan, you must file your claim or action in court no later than 36 months after (1) the date the first benefit payment was made or due; (2) the date the University or its delegate first denied your request; or (3) the earliest date that you knew or should have known the material facts which are the basis for your claim. Any claim or action that is filed after the end of the 36-month period is time-barred.

## XV. OTHER FACTS YOU SHOULD KNOW

The Plan is based on current federal tax laws and IRS regulations. If, however, it is determined that the Plan does not comply with these laws or regulations or if these laws or regulations change in the future, the Plan may have to be revised appropriately.

Name of Plan: Thomas Jefferson University Hospitals, Inc. Defined

Contribution Pension Plan

Type of Plan: Defined Contribution Section 403(b) Plan

Employer/Plan Sponsor: Thomas Jefferson University

Employer Identification Number: 23-2829095

Plan Number: 008

Record Keeper: TIAA-CREF

730 Third Avenue New York, NY 10017

1-800-842-2888

Website: www.tiaa-cref.org

<u>Trustee (for mutual funds)</u>: TIAA-CREF Trust Company, FSB

211 N. Broadway, Suite 1000 St. Louis, Missouri 63102-2733 <u>Type of Administration</u>: The Plan is administered by the University, which has designated TIAA-CREF to serve as a third-party administrator responsible for the Plan's day-to-day operations.

<u>Funding Medium</u>: Benefits under the Plan are provided under, and administered through, annuity contracts and mutual funds.

<u>Cost of the Plan</u>: Benefits under the Plan are provided through Employee Contributions, Employer Matching Contributions, and Employer Fixed Contributions.

<u>Plan Administrator</u>: The Plan Administrator is Thomas Jefferson University. The Plan Administrator will be the ultimate judge of the application and interpretation of the Plan, and will have the discretionary authority to construe the provisions of the Plan, to resolve disputed issues of fact, and to make determinations regarding eligibility for benefits. The decisions of the Plan Administrator in all matters relating to the Plan (including, but not limited to, eligibility for benefits, Plan interpretations, and disputed issues of fact) will be final and binding on all parties and will not be overturned by a court of law. The Plan Administrator may designate in writing other persons, such as TIAA-CREF, to carry out duties under the Plan.

No person may bring an action against the Plan Administrator in a court of law unless the claims appeal procedures described herein have been exhausted and a final determination is made by the Plan Administrator. If you, your dependent, your beneficiary, or another interested person challenges the Plan Administrator's decision, a review by a court of law will be limited to the facts, evidence and issues presented to the Plan Administrator during the procedure set forth above. Facts and evidence that become known to you, your dependent, your beneficiary, or another interested person after having exhausted the appeals procedure will be brought to the Plan Administrator's attention for reconsideration of the appeal in accordance with the applicable time limits. Except as otherwise provided in the previous sentence, issues not raised with the Plan Administrator during the initial appeal will be deemed waived.

For more information about the Plan and its terms, conditions and interpretations including eligibility, participation, contributions or other aspects of operating the Plan, contact the Plan Administrator at the following address and telephone number:

Thomas Jefferson University and Hospitals Department of Human Resources Suite 900 833 Chestnut Street Philadelphia, PA 19107

Telephone: 215-503-4772

<u>Legal Service</u>: Service of legal process may be made upon the General Counsel of Thomas Jefferson University or the Plan Administrator, as identified above.

<u>Plan Year</u>: The Plan and all of its records are kept on the basis of a plan year beginning on January 1 and ending on the following December 31.

#### XVI. YOUR RIGHTS UNDER ERISA

As a participant in the Plan, you are entitled to certain rights and protection under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"). ERISA gives all Plan participants the right to:

## Receive Information about the Plan and Plan Benefits

- ♦ Examine, without charge, at the office of the Plan Administrator and at other specified locations, such as your personnel office, all documents governing the Plan and a copy of the latest annual report (Form 5500 series) filed by the Plan with the U.S. Department of Labor ("DOL") and available at the Public Disclosure Room of the Employee Benefits Security Administration ("EBSA").
- ♦ Obtain copies of documents governing the Plan, copies of the latest annual report (Form 5500 series) and an updated summary plan description upon written request to the Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator may make reasonable charge for the copies.
- Receive a summary of the Plan's annual financial report. The Plan Administrator is required by law to furnish each participant with a copy of this summary annual report each year.
- Receive an individual benefit statement at least once every calendar quarter. Your statement will provide the total value of your Plan account, including any contributions made during the quarter and investment earnings or losses. The Plan Administrator is required to provide you with an explanation of any limitations or restrictions on your right under the Plan to direct the investment of your account.

# Prudent Actions by Plan Fiduciaries

In addition to creating rights for Plan participants, ERISA imposes duties upon the people who are responsible for the Plan's operation. The people who operate your Plan, called "fiduciaries" of the Plan, have a duty to do so prudently and in your best interest and the best interest of other Plan participants and beneficiaries. However, please note the limitation on fiduciary liability described in part VI above. No one, including your employer or any other person, may fire you or otherwise discriminate against you in any way to prevent you from obtaining a benefit or from exercising your rights under ERISA.

## **Enforcement of Your Rights**

If your claim for benefits is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you have a right to know why this was done, to obtain copies of documents relating to the decision without charge, and to appeal any denial, all within certain time schedules. Under ERISA, there are steps you can take to enforce your rights. For example, if you request materials from the Plan and do not receive them within 30 days, you may choose to file suit in a federal court. In such case, the court may require the Plan Administrator to provide the materials and pay you up to \$110 a day

until you receive the materials, unless the materials were not sent because of reasons beyond the control of the Plan Administrator. If your request for benefits is denied or ignored, in whole or in part, you may choose to file suit in a state or federal court. In addition, if you disagree with the Plan's decision or lack thereof concerning the qualified status of a domestic relations order, you may file suit in state or federal court. If it should happen that the Plan fiduciaries misuse the Plan's money, or if you are discriminated against for asserting your rights, or if you have any questions about this statement or about your rights under ERISA you may seek assistance from the nearest area office of the DOL, or you may choose to file suit in a federal court. The court will decide who should pay court costs and legal fees. If you are successful, the court may order the person you have sued to pay these costs and fees. If you lose, the court may order you to pay these costs and fees, for example, if it finds your claim is frivolous.

# Assistance with Your Questions

If you have any questions about the Plan, you should contact the Plan Administrator. If you have any questions about this statement or your rights under ERISA, or if you need assistance in obtaining documents from the Plan Administrator, you should contact the nearest area office of the EBSA by checking your telephone directory. You may also contact the Washington D.C. office of the EBSA by calling 202-219-8776 or writing to:

United States Department of Labor Employee Benefits Security Administration 200 Constitution Avenue N.W. Washington, DC 20210

You may also obtain certain publications about your rights and responsibilities under ERISA by calling the toll free hotline of the EBSA at 1-866-275-7922 or visiting EBSA's Website at http://www.dol.gov/ebsa or http://www.askebsa.dol.gov.

This summary plan description highlights the main provisions of the Plan but is subject to the terms of the legal Plan document. Where this description and the official Plan document vary in the description of the Plan, the Plan document is the final authority.

The description of your retirement benefits is not an employment contract or any type of employment guarantee.